STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

NOV - 5 2014

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**S.C. Supreme Court**

Frank W. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2014-001261  
Lower Court Case No. 2006-CP-32-3862

---

TERRANCE V. SMITH, #292962,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

**JEREMY A. THOMPSON**  
Attorney and Counselor at Law

Law Office of Jeremy A. Thompson, LLC  
P.O. Box 12891  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 779-2555  
(803) 779-2556 FAX

**ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.**

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

### **I.**

Whether there is any probative evidence to support the PCR court's conclusion that defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to cross-examine a cooperating co-defendant regarding the potential minimum and maximum sentences that she faced for the charges that she pleaded guilty to and for the charges that were to be dismissed?

### **II.**

Whether there is any probative evidence to support the PCR court's conclusion that the Petitioner failed to show that the State committed a due process violation in not disclosing the true nature of the plea agreement it had made with the cooperating co-defendant?

### **III.**

Whether there is any probative evidence to support the PCR court's conclusion that defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to request a charge on self-defense?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner, Terrance V. Smith, was indicted in Lexington County for murder, first degree burglary, assault and battery with intent to kill, attempted armed robbery, criminal conspiracy, possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime, and ill treatment of an animal. On April 28-May 2, 2003, the Petitioner proceeded to a joint trial on these charges with his co-defendant Ivan Collins. The Petitioner was represented at this proceeding by Jonathan R. Hendrix, Esquire. At the conclusion of the trial, the Petitioner was found not guilty on the ill treatment of an animal charge and guilty on the remaining charges.<sup>1</sup> The Honorable Marc H. Westbrook, presiding circuit judge, sentenced the Petitioner to life without parole pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45.

The Petitioner timely appealed his convictions and sentences to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. Mary P. Miles, Esquire, represented the Petitioner on appeal. In an unpublished opinion filed November 30, 2005, the Court of Appeals affirmed the Petitioner's convictions and sentences. State v. Smith, 2005-UP-600 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Nov. 30, 2005). The remittitur was issued on December 16, 2005.

On October 31, 2006, the Petitioner filed an Application for Post-Conviction Relief with the Lexington County Clerk of Court. The State served its Return on December 15, 2010. An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on April 15-16, 2003, before the Honorable Frank W. Addy, Jr., presiding circuit judge. The Petitioner was represented at this proceeding by Tara Dawn Shurling, Esquire. On April 2, 2014, the PCR court filed an Order of Dismissal which denied relief on all of the Petitioner's claims. On April 24, 2014, the Petitioner filed a

---

<sup>1</sup> Collins was convicted of all charges.

Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion to alter or amend the judgment.<sup>2</sup> On May 12, 2014, the PCR court filed an order modifying its order of dismissal, but did not change its decision to deny relief to the Petitioner. The Petitioner timely filed a notice of appeal from these orders with this Court.

Notice of appeal was timely served and filed. The Petitioner now seeks a writ of certiorari.

---

<sup>2</sup> The Rule 59(e) motion was timely made. According to the representation made by the Petitioner's attorney in the motion, she did not receive the order of dismissal until April 9, 2014. See App. p. 1410. Pursuant to Rule 59(e), she then had ten days to serve her motion. Since April 19 was a Saturday, this gave her until April 21 to serve the motion. See Rule 6(a), SCRCP. The motion was served on that date. See App. p. 1415.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The charges in this case arose out of a shooting at an apartment complex in West Columbia on August 3, 2001. According to the State's theory of the case, the Petitioner's co-defendant Ivan Collins and Collins' girlfriend Wykiesha Williams developed a plan to rob Charles Penny, a small-time drug dealer, at his apartment in West Columbia. Williams was to enter the apartment to determine whether or not Penny had marijuana inside the apartment. If he had marijuana, then Williams was to give Collins a signal to enter the apartment to effectuate the robbery. See App. p. 455, line 25-p. 456, line 25.

On the night of the incident, several individuals were present in Penny's apartment smoking marijuana and drinking various alcoholic beverages: Penny; Penny's next-door neighbor Franklin Hook; murder victim and Hook's brother-in-law Sidney Muller; ABWIK victim John Hayward; and a friend of Penny's named Ronnie Rogers. According to the State's witnesses, Williams entered the apartment late in the evening and stayed for a short period of time until she received a phone call. After completing the phone call, Williams hurriedly exited the apartment and two armed individuals stormed the apartment's front door. One individual, identified by Penny and Hayward as the Petitioner, entered the apartment and began rummaging through the pockets of the occupants. The other individual, identified by Hayward as Collins, stood in the doorway firing warning shots. Hayward then engaged the Petitioner in a struggle and was shot.<sup>3</sup> Additionally, Muller was shot at some point in time during the altercation.<sup>4</sup> The Petitioner and Collins then fled the scene. While fleeing, Collins shot Penny's dog. See App. p. 247, line 8-p. 260, line 11 (Hook); p. 293, line 2-p. 299, line 13 (Penny); p. 366, line 5-p. 371, line 8 (Hayward); p. 457, line 3-p. 468, line 7 (Williams).

---

<sup>3</sup> The shooting injury left Hayward paralyzed and wheelchair-bound. See App. p. 371, line 24-p. 372, line 25.

<sup>4</sup> Dr. John Carter, who performed the autopsy on Muller, testified at trial that Muller was struck by a bullet that severed an artery in his abdomen and Muller died minutes later. App. p. 690, line 17-p. 691, line 8.

Although the Petitioner did not present any evidence at trial, Collins took the stand in his defense. Collins testified that he had not planned to rob Penny and that he only went over to Penny's apartment that night because Williams wanted to go there. Williams then entered the apartment while Collins and the Petitioner waited outside. After several minutes passed, Collins and the Petitioner went to the apartment to see what had happened and Williams ran out of the apartment. Someone then threw something at the Petitioner and the Petitioner was tackled by one of the occupants of the apartment. Collins then saw Penny with a gun and Collins pulled out his gun and opened fire. Collins and the Petitioner then fled the scene with Williams. See App. p. 733, line 4-p. 738, line 16.

## ARGUMENT

### **Standard of Review**

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee every criminal defendant the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). In order to prove a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, the moving party must show that defense counsel (1) failed to provide him with reasonable professional assistance of counsel under the prevailing standards for attorneys representing clients in criminal matters; and (2) that he was prejudiced by the errors and omissions of counsel such that he was deprived of a fair trial. Id. In other words, the Petitioner must show that but for counsel's errors and omissions, there is a reasonable probability that the result at trial would have been different. Id.

The Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution require that the prosecution disclose favorable exculpatory or impeachment evidence to the defense. Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). "An individual asserting a Brady violation must demonstrate that evidence: (1) favorable to the accused; (2) in the possession of or known by the prosecution; (3) was suppressed by the State; and (4) was material to the accused's guilt or innocence or was impeaching." Riddle v. Ozmint, 369 S.C. 39, 44, 631 S.E.2d 70, 73 (2006). "If a Brady violation is found to have occurred, PCR must be granted." Id.

On appeal, a PCR court's findings will be upheld if there is any evidence of probative value supporting them. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 155, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). If no probative evidence is found, the reviewing court will reverse the lower court's findings. Pierce v. State, 338 S.C. 139, 526 S.E.2d 222 (2000).

- I. **The PCR court erred in concluding that defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to question a cooperating co-defendant regarding the potential minimum and maximum sentences that she faced for her charges.**
- II. **The PCR court erred in concluding that the prosecution did not commit a Brady violation for failing to disclose the true nature of the cooperating co-defendant's plea agreement with the State.**

A. How the Issues Arose Below

Wykiesha Williams was one of the State's primary witnesses against the Petitioner. Like the Petitioner and Collins, Williams was charged with murder, attempted armed robbery, first degree burglary, and criminal conspiracy in connection with this offense. At trial, she testified that she pleaded guilty to first degree burglary, attempted armed robbery, and criminal conspiracy prior to trial. App. p. 445, line 13-p. 446, line 4. Regarding the sentences for the offenses that she pleaded guilty to, Williams testified that she could receive up to a life sentence for burglary, fifteen years' imprisonment for attempted armed robbery, and five years' imprisonment for criminal conspiracy. App. p. 446, line 22-p. 447, line 7. The prosecutor then engaged her in the following discussion regarding the disposition of the other charges that had been pending against her:

Q. Are you aware that the State originally had you charged with murder?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Are you aware that there was [sic] some additional attempted armed robberies against you from this same incident regarding other individuals in the house?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. *And those charges have been dismissed, have they not?*

A. *Yes, sir.*

App. p. 458, lines 6-15 (emphasis added). In actuality, however, Williams' charges *had not* been dismissed; instead, they remained pending until after the trial. Moreover, defense counsel did not ask Williams about the potential mandatory minimum sentence that Williams faced for first degree burglary, nor did defense counsel ask Williams about the potential maximum and mandatory minimum sentences that she faced for murder.<sup>5</sup> Ultimately, Williams received a time served sentence for each of her charges, including first degree burglary.<sup>6</sup> See App. pp. 1332-1340.

In the Petitioner's amended PCR application, he alleged that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to cross-examine Williams about "charges that were dismissed as part of her plea agreement with the State and the minimum and maximum penalties she would have faced for those offenses." App. p. 1053. The Petitioner also alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to cross-examine Williams about "the least sentence she could hope to get for the offense of first degree burglary." App. p. 1053. At the PCR hearing, defense counsel testified that he did not consider questioning Williams on the minimum penalty she could receive for first degree burglary. App. p. 1072, line 18-p. 1073, line 2. He also testified that he did not have any strategic reason for failing to question Williams on the maximum or minimum penalties for murder. App. p. 1075, lines 6-23.

While the Petitioner initially pursued a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel regarding the status of Williams' murder charge at the time of trial, this claim became a Brady allegation following the testimony of the prosecutor Charles Dayton Riddle, III:

Q. What do you ask Wakeisha [sic] Williams?

---

<sup>5</sup> Neither the State nor counsel for Collins asked these questions either.

<sup>6</sup> The suspension of the mandatory minimum fifteen year sentence for first degree burglary sentence was an illegal sentence. See State v. Jacobs, 393 S.C. 584, 713 S.E.2d 621 (2011) (holding that the mandatory minimum sentence for first degree burglary cannot be suspended).

A. The question on line 13?

Q. Yes.

A. “Those charges have been dismissed, have they not?”

Q. To which she responds?

A. “Yes, sir.”

Q. And those charges in fact had not been dismissed as of –

A. I had not signed the paperwork.

Q. Well, okay, which begs another question. *If Wakeisha [sic] Williams had gotten up in that trial and testified materially differently from what you expected her to say, would you have not pressed that murder indictment on Monday?*

A. No.

App. p. 1279, lines 10-25 (emphasis added); see also App. p. 1263, line 18-p. 1264, line 19. At the conclusion of the PCR hearing, PCR counsel explicitly argued that the State’s failure to explain the true nature of Williams’ plea agreement to the jury constituted a Brady violation. See App. p. 1306, line 17-p. 1308, line 23.

The PCR court denied relief on the ineffective assistance of counsel claim, concluding that the Petitioner could not meet either prong of the Strickland test. App. pp. 1396-1398. The PCR court also denied relief on the Brady claim and found that “Applicant has failed to show any basis to believe that there were negotiations between Williams and the prosecution other than what was presented at trial.” App. p. 1398. The Petitioner then filed a Rule 59(e), SCRC, motion, arguing, in part, that the PCR court failed to sufficiently rule on the Petitioner’s claims regarding the status of the murder charge at the time of trial and the possible sentences that Williams faced. See App. pp. 1411-1412. The PCR court denied relief on this motion as well. App. pp. 1417-1418.

## B. Discussion

The Petitioner respectfully contends that the PCR court's rulings on the claims pertaining to Williams are devoid of any probative evidence and warrant further review by this Court. The Petitioner will first address his ineffective assistance of counsel claim before turning to his Brady claim.

### *1. Defense Counsel Was Ineffective for Failing to Cross-Examine Williams Regarding Her Mandatory Minimum and Possible Maximum Sentences*

It is well-established, and was well-established at the time of the Petitioner's trial, that the Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause requires that criminal defendants be permitted to cross-examine testifying cooperating co-defendants about the possible minimum and maximum sentences they faced for their original charges, for any dismissed charges, and for any charges that they have already plead guilty to. See State v. Brown, 303 S.C. 169, 399 S.E.2d 593 (1991); State v. Mizzell, 349 S.C. 326, 563 S.E.2d 315 (2002); State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 731 S.E.2d 880 (2012). "The fact that a cooperating witness avoided a *mandatory minimum* sentence is critical information that a defendant must be allowed to present to the jury." Gracely, 399 S.C. at 374-375, 731 S.E.2d at 886 (emphasis in original).

The Petitioner respectfully submits that defense counsel's cross-examination of Williams was clearly deficient. Pursuant to Brown and Mizzell, defense counsel had the authority to question Williams regarding the maximum and minimum penalties that she faced on all of her charges. Due to defense counsel's failure to cross-examine Williams regarding the potential sentences for the charges that she had pleaded guilty to and that were to be dismissed pursuant to her plea agreement, however, the jury did not hear that Williams was facing a sentence of thirty years' imprisonment to life for a conviction for murder and that she could receive a sentence of fifteen years for her cooperation. Additionally, given the fact that Williams' attorney had told

her that she could receive a sentence of zero years' imprisonment for first degree burglary, see App. p. 1126, line 23-p. 1127, line 2, Williams may very well have testified that she avoided a mandatory minimum sentence altogether by cooperating against the Petitioner. This testimony would have been truthful, inasmuch as she ultimately received a time served sentence for first degree burglary. See App. pp. 1332-1340. This testimony would have been significant evidence of bias that the jury needed to hear in order to make a full evaluation of Williams' credibility. Consequently, the PCR court's conclusion that defense counsel's "vigorous cross-examination" of Williams was constitutionally sufficient lacks any probative evidence and should be reversed by this Court.

Moreover, there is a reasonable likelihood that the result of the Petitioner's trial would have been different had the evidence of bias been introduced. Williams was the individual who tied the case together for the State. Without her testimony, there would have been no evidence of motive or reasoning for the attack on Penny's apartment. Her credibility was paramount, and had the jury heard that she was having a mandatory minimum thirty year sentence reduced all the way to a potential time served sentence due to her cooperation, it is extremely likely that the jury would have discredited her testimony altogether.

Additionally, the testimony of all of the eyewitnesses against the Petitioner was suspect. Both Penny and Hayward had been smoking marijuana and drinking alcoholic beverages for a significant period of time prior to the incident, casting serious doubt on their identifications of the Petitioner. Hayward, in particular, admitted that his testimony about identifying the Petitioner at trial was different than the testimony given at the *in camera* hearing to suppress his identification of the Petitioner. See App. p. 382, line 22-p. 384, line 10. Furthermore, Williams gave at least four different statements to the police. See App. p. 480, line 5-p. 511, line 15.

Finally, Ronnie Rogers, who did not testify at trial, identified two individuals out of the photo line-ups he was given that were not the Petitioner or Collins. See App. p. 618, line 23-p. 620, line 1. Given the significant evidence against the reliability of the identifications of the Petitioner, there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury would have acquitted the Petitioner had the evidence of Williams' bias been admitted. Accordingly, the PCR court's summary finding that "the result of the trial would most likely remain the same" had the evidence of bias been admitted lacks any probative evidence and should be reversed. App. p. 1398. The Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court grant certiorari to review this issue further.

2. *The State Committed a Brady Violation by Failing to Disclose the Full Plea Agreement with Williams*

It is a due process violation for the State to fail to disclose the terms of a plea agreement with a cooperating witness. Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972). Here, it is clear that the prosecutor misled the jury, and the defense, as to the true nature of his agreement with Williams. The prosecutor explicitly asked Williams a leading question where he stated, with his authority as the prosecutor behind it, that her other charges, including murder, "have been dismissed, have they not?" App. p. 448, lines 13-14. Based on this question, and her affirmative response, there would have been no reason for anyone to suspect that those charges were still pending or that she could face prosecution for those charges in the future. However, in truth, the prosecutor was still holding on to those charges and would have prosecuted Williams had she not testified consistently with what he believed the truth to be. See App. p. 1279, lines 10-25. This means that not only were her charges still pending, but that they would still be prosecuted if she failed to testify favorable to the State. The true plea agreement was a significant deviation from the plea agreement that Williams testified existed, and the State's failure to disclose the plea agreement is a clear due process violation. See United States v. Morris, 498 F.3d 634 (7th Cir.

2007) (finding prosecutorial misconduct in a prosecutor's assertion that a cooperating co-defendant would receive a mandatory ten-year sentence when the prosecutor knew that the co-defendant could receive a lesser sentence). Therefore, the PCR court's conclusion that the Petitioner failed to show "that there were negotiations between Williams and the prosecution other than what was presented at trial" is unmistakably erroneous. App. p. 1398. Indeed, it is difficult to envision a scenario where starker evidence of a material difference in a plea agreement could be provided to a PCR court, inasmuch as the evidence in this case came straight from the prosecutor.

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