ALAN WILSON
ATTORNEY GENERAL

March 5, 2015

RECEIVED

MAR - 5 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

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

II.

The PCR court did not rule on the alleged “Brady” issue raised as Petitioner’s issue number two, and further, no Brady violation occurred.

Smith claims that the fact the prosecution had not dismissed the murder indictment prior to trial amounts to a Brady violation.⁶ Smith misapprehends Brady and raises an argument not ruled upon by the PCR court. The record reveals trial counsel was aware of the very term of the agreement that is the substance of the purported discovery violation.

This Court should refrain from reviewing the issue because it was not ruled upon by the PCR court. Smith misrepresents the record to claim this issue was raised and ruled upon by the PCR court. Smith quotes the order out of context to substantiate his erroneous claim that the issue was ruled upon. Under the subsection of the order entitled “**Counsel adequately cross-examined co-defendant Wykiesha Williams,**” the PCR court summarized Smith’s allegations as follows:

Applicant alleges trial counsel was ineffective for failing to cross-examine Williams with respect to the plea agreement. Similarly, Applicant alleges a Brady violation on the basis that Williams received an illegal sentence in that the sentence for Burglary in the First Degree, which carries a minimum sentence of fifteen years imprisonment which may not be suspended, relying upon the holding of State v. Jacobs, 393 S.C. 584, 713 S.E.2d 621 (2011).

App. p. 1397. The section is silent as to whether the timing of dismissal on the murder indictment constitutes a discovery violation. At the conclusion of the section, the PCR court finds counsel was not ineffective and addresses the Brady issue regarding Williams’ sentence

⁶ Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

for burglary as follows: “Further, this Court finds Applicant has failed to show any basis to believe that there were negotiations between Williams and the prosecution other than what was presented at trial.” App. p. 1398. Smith attempts to recast this ruling regarding the burglary charge as a ruling on the issue of the timing of dismissal for the murder indictment.

Smith further misrepresents the content of the Rule 59(e) motion to suggest the issue was raised in that motion. However, the issue regarding the dismissal of the murder indictment was raised as an ineffective assistance of counsel claim and not as a Brady issue.

The relevant part of this motion is as follows:

The Order fails to make findings of fact and ruling of law on Applicant’s claims that Trial Counsel neglected to adequately cross-examine this witness concerning the following:

. . .

2. Whether her murder charge had in fact been dismissed prior to her testimony at Applicant’s trial;

. . .

6. Her claims that her murder charge had been (past tense) dismissed because of her pleas on other charges.

App. pp. 1411-12. As shown above, the issue of a Brady violation was not ruled upon by the PCR court and was not raised in the Rule 59, SCRCPP motion, therefore it should not be reviewed. Plyler v. State, 309 S.C. 408, 409, 424 S.E.2d 477, 478 (1992) (“Since this issue was neither raised at the PCR hearing nor ruled upon by the PCR court, it is procedurally barred.”).

Further, the issue raised is not cognizable in PCR as it is a direct appeal issue. Simmons v. State, 264 S.C. 417, 215 S.E.2d 883 (1975). Note Smith does not attempt to

raise the issue as after-discovered evidence.

Counsel testified as follows concerning his interpretation of the timing of dismissal of indictments:

As far as – I cannot tell you that I understood that to mean that they had necessarily signed off on any indictments or anything, that is, the Solicitor’s Office had signed off on the indictments. But if it had not been done, clearly it was supposed to be done as a part of the plea arrangement with Ms. Williams.

App. p. 1069, line 9 – p. 1070, line 2. Counsel elaborated further:

In dealing with the Solicitor’s Office across the state, I mean, I’ve never known Solicitors, in my experience, who announced in court that this charge was being dismissed and later on brought it back. Now, there might be some exceptions if part of the deal was that somebody was to give truthful testimony and it turns out they didn’t.

App. p. 1071, lines 14-22. On redirect, he addressed the issue further:

But my understanding was that the charge of murder was going to be dismissed. And much like Mr. Matthews said, I had no reason to believe that that wasn’t going to happen and that it wasn’t going to be with finality.

App. p. 1210, lines 13-17. Counsel confirmed his understanding that the charge “**was being** dismissed.” Tr. p. 1210, lines 18-23 (emphasis added). Accordingly, counsel confirmed he was aware of the agreement between Williams and the prosecution, so no Brady violation occurred. Further, no testimony suggests time was of the essence as to dismissal of the murder indictment. The indictment needed to be dismissed and Williams needed to testify truthfully, but which occurred first was immaterial to the agreement. Ultimately, the material term of the agreement was that Williams not be prosecuted for murder if she testifies

truthfully.

Under Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 511 S.E.2d 396 (Ct. App. 1999), the parties to a plea agreement are bound by the plea court's acceptance of the plea agreement. Id. at 688, 511 S.E.2d at 402. Once Williams' plea agreement was accepted by the court prior to trial, the prosecution was bound by the terms of the agreement. Williams would be able to enforce the terms of the agreement. Smith v. State, 407 S.C. 270, 754 S.E.2d 900 (Ct. App. 2014). So contrary to the argument presented by Smith, the prosecutor could not unilaterally decide to prosecute Williams for murder in contradiction of the agreement, but would need to convince the trial court over the likely objection by Williams' able counsel that Williams breached the agreement by testifying untruthfully.

Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) is based on the requirement of due process. To succeed on a Brady claim, the defendant must show: 1) the evidence was favorable to the accused, 2) it was in possession of or known to the prosecution, 3) it was suppressed by the prosecution, and 4) was material to the guilt or punishment. Gibson v. State, 334 S.C. 515, 524, 514 S.E.2d 320, 324 (1999). Certainly, Brady requires disclosure to the accused of a favorable plea bargain with a cooperating co-defendant. State v. Cain, 297 S.C. 497, 503, 377 S.E.2d 556, 559 (1988). However, as counsel's testimony demonstrates, his understanding was that the murder charge **was going to be dismissed**, which aligns exactly with the prosecution's actions.

Further, the timing of disclosure is hardly material to the present case. Reversal is required only if improperly withheld evidence is material to the guilt or punishment such that there is a reasonable probability that had the evidence been disclosed the result would have

been different. Id. For Brady purposes, the court's function is to determine whether the appellant's right to a fair trial has been impaired when viewing the non-disclosed evidence in the context of the entire record. State v. Osborne, 291 S.C. 265, 353 S.E.2d 276 (1987). In the instant case, the distinction of whether the charge would be dismissed or had been dismissed is immaterial. In either case, the jury was aware that Williams received a substantial benefit. Further, actual dismissal of the indictment would not be an impediment to restoring the charge if Williams failed to testify truthfully. Finally, in light of the abundant evidence of guilt and the vigorous cross-examination of Williams by both defense attorneys, there is no probability that the outcome of trial would have been different on this point.

It should be noted that Smith erroneously claims the State would prosecute Williams "if she didn't testify to what the prosecutor wanted her to testify to." See pet. for certiorari, p. 14. The charges were going to be dismissed provided Williams gave "truthful testimony during the trial of the co-defendants . . ." App. p. 1260, lines 2-7. Respondent is confident that the tone and connotations implied in this argument by petitioner is unintentional, but nonetheless, it is unfair to the prosecutor in this case who prosecuted this trial fairly.

Probative evidence supports the denial of the PCR application, and as mentioned above, this issue was not ruled upon by the PCR court and should not be reviewed. Accordingly, certiorari should be denied.

III.

Counsel was not ineffective for failing to request a charge on self-defense where no evidence shows that Petitioner acted in self-defense, and where the trial court instructed the jury on mere presence, which was supported, but not dependent, on co-defendant's imperfect self-defense claim.

Smith claims his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request a jury instruction on self-defense based on his co-defendant's imperfect claim of self-defense. No evidence supports that Smith himself acted in self-defense. Smith was not prejudiced by the alleged deficiency because the jury was instructed on mere presence. Smith's mere presence defense was broader than Collins' self-defense claims, and if the jury believed Collins testimony and followed the trial court's instructions, the jury would have acquitted Smith. Obviously, the jury did not believe any part of Collins' testimony except, as discussed below, the part about Collins shooting the dog.

Collins testified that at the time of the robbery, he was a drug dealer. Collins testified that he borrowed Williams' car that day and that he and Smith picked her up from work. Collins wanted to go back to his home on Cherry Road in Columbia, but Williams, who was now driving, wanted to make a stop. She drove to Penny's apartment and went inside. Collins testified he had never been to the apartment before and did not know Penny or any of the others at the apartment. He waited outside the car and at one point called her on his cell phone. She told Collins she would be out in a minute. However, as they continued to wait, Smith walked up to the door and knocked. At that moment, someone threw something out the door at Smith who ducked. Then someone grabbed Smith and slammed him to the ground. App. pp. 727-737, tr. pp. 747-757.

Collins testified, “And when the guy slammed him to the ground, I looked up. And it was a big guy, and he went and pulled a gun and I had to pull my gun.” App. p. 737, tr. p. 737, lines 1-3. Collins confirmed he keeps a gun because he is a drug dealer.⁷ Collins shot at the gunman, who he contended was Penny. Penny shot back, and Collins ran. Collins denied he was ever in the house. App. p. 737, tr. p. 757. Collins admitted he shot the dog. App. p. 741, tr. p. 761. Collins admitted he did not call law enforcement, that he threw his gun in the Broad River, and that he fled to Georgia. He claims it was because there was a warrant for his arrest on another armed robbery, which he subsequently pled guilty to. App. pp. 761-763, tr. pp. 781-783. Collins admitted that when he was first arrested in Georgia, he told law enforcement his name was Richard Smith, which was the same name Williams used when she told law enforcement about Collins. App. pp. 766, line 25 – p. 767, line 10.

This testimony perhaps supports self-defense as to Collins, but it certainly supports mere presence as to Smith. In order to establish self-defense, evidence must show: (1) the defendant was without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) the defendant actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or must have actually been in imminent danger; (3) if the defense is based on the actual belief of imminent danger, a reasonable prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief; and (4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in the instant case. State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 499, 716 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2011).

In the instant case, Collins never testified that he felt he was in imminent danger, and

⁷ Collins sold crack cocaine. App. p. 764, tr. p. 784, lines 2-11.

until Collins fired the first shot, Collins was not in imminent danger. Penny was the homeowner and under Collins version of events, merely had a gun. Collins also had a duty to retreat for a self-defense instruction, and it is not clear that he could not have retreated.⁸ However, even if his defense of self-defense was imperfect, Collins' testimony does establish mere presence for Smith. Smith's mere presence is broader than Collins' self-defense case based on Collins' testimony alone. Further, counsel was successful in eliciting testimony from Williams that Williams and Collins never discussed the robbery plans in front of Smith. Accordingly, Smith's guilt or innocence did not reside with possible jury issues of duty to retreat or actual belief of danger. The trial court instructed the jury on mere presence as follows:

But, however I will tell you that mere presence at the scene of a crime is not enough to prove someone guilty of a crime. The burden is upon the State to prove every element of the crime charged.

So if you find after reviewing all of the evidence that the State has proven that a defendant was only present at the scene of the crime and that they have not proven beyond a reasonable doubt any other participation in the crime then you must find that defendant is not guilty. The law says that proof of mere presence at the scene of a crime is not enough to find someone guilty.

App. p. 852, tr. p. 872, lines 9-19.

If the jury believed Collins' absurd story and followed the trial court's instructions, they would have acquitted Smith. Jurors are presumed to follow the trial court's instructions.

⁸ Smith misapplies the law of the case doctrine in claiming that his contention that Collins' testimony supports a self-defense charge is the law of the case. This Court may affirm on any ground appearing in the record. 1:On v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000) ("Under the present rules, a respondent – the 'winner' in the lower court – may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court's ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by

State v. Queen, 264 S.C. 515, 521, 216 S.E.2d 182, 185 (1975). Without a doubt, the instructions provided to the jury were sufficient to judge **Smith's** criminal liability. A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law. State v. Zeigler, 364 S.C. 94, 106, 610 S.E.2d 859, 865 (Ct. App. 2005). To warrant reversal, a trial court's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial **to the defendant**. State v. Gaines, *supra*; State v. Burkhart, 350 S.C. 252, 565 S.E.2d 298 (2002). If the instructions given to the jury afford the proper test for determining the issues, the failure to give one side's requested instructions is not prejudicial. State v. Hughey, 339 S.C. 439, 452, 529 S.E.2d 721, 728 (2000) *overruled on other grounds by* Rosemond v. Catoe, 383 S.C. 320, 680 S.E.2d 5 (2009).

In the instant case it is clear the jury understood mere presence when the jury acquitted Smith of the animal cruelty charge, the only crime Smith really was just merely present for. On the other hand, it is clear the jury did not believe Collins' version of events since under his version, there was no robbery or burglary; the jury convicted both Collins and Smith of those charges. "Any act of the accused in violation of law and reasonably calculated to produce the occasion amounts to bringing on the difficulty and bars his right to assert self-defense as a justification or excuse for a homicide." State v. Bryant, 336 S.C. 340, 520 S.E.2d 319 (1999) (citations omitted) (citing with approval cases holding that a robber may not claim self-defense for an ensuing homicide).

Accordingly, since mere presence, Smith's defense, was charged to the jury, and it is clear the jury did not think Smith was merely present for the attempted robbery or burglary,

the lower court.").

counsel was not ineffective merely because self-defense – Collins’ defense – was not charged to the jury. Accordingly, the petition for writ of certiorari should be denied.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the petition for writ of certiorari should be denied. Should this Court see fit to grant the petition, Respondent would respectfully request permission to more fully brief the issues herein.